", Earth Negotiations Bulletin

A Reporting Servzce for Envzronment and Development Negotzatzons

Vol. 15No. 3

Published by the International Institute for Sustainable Development

Monday, 27 October 1997

REPORT OF THE FOURTH SESSION OF THE INC
FOR AN INTERNATIONAL LEGALLY BINDING
INSTRUMENT FOR THE APPLICATION OF THE
PRIOR INFORMED CONSENT PROCEDURE FOR

CERTAIN HAZARDOUS CHEMICALSAND
PESTICIDESIN INTERNATIONAL TRADE:
20-24 OCTOBER 1997

The fourth session of the Intergovernmental Negotiating
Committee (INC-4) for an International Legally Binding Instrument
for the Application of the Prior Informed Consent (PIC) Procedure for
Certain Hazardous Chemicals and Pesticidesin International Trade
was held from 20-24 October 1997 in Rome. Delegates considered the
revised text of draft articlesfor theinstrument, aswell as proposals by
the US and the European Community, in Plenary, a Technical Working
Group and aLegal Drafting Group. Additional negotiating sessions
every evening and anumber of contact groups were also convened.

Delegates at INC-4 encountered problems similar to those of
previous negotiating sessions. Despite some useful contact during the
intersessional period, there had not been much change in the positions
of the main protagonists since the last meeting. This meansthat the
mandate of the UNEP Governing Council to conclude negotiations by
the end of 1997 cannot befulfilled. An additional negotiating session
will beheld in early 1998 and the diplomatic conference to adopt the
instrument is now scheduled for March or April 1998. The progresson
some "secondary" issuesin Rome meansthat the smaller number of
difficult issues still to be resolved present asignificant, but not insur-
mountable, challenge.

A BRIEFHISTORY OF THE PIC NEGOTIATIONS

Growth ininternationally traded chemical s during the 1960s and
1970sled toincreasing concern over pesticides and industrial chem-
ical use, particularly in developing countries that |acked the expertise
or infrastructure to ensure their safe use. This prompted the devel op-
ment of the I nternational Code of Conduct for the Distribution and Use
of Pesticides by the FAO and the London Guidelinesfor the Exchange
of Information on Chemicalsin International Trade by UNEP. Boththe
Code of Conduct and the London Guidelinesinclude procedures
aimed at making information about hazardous chemicals more readily
available, thereby permitting countriesto assesstherisks associated
with their use. In 1989, both instruments were amended to include the
Prior Informed Consent (PIC) procedure to help countries make
informed decisions on theimport of chemicalsthat have been banned
or severely restricted.

Thevoluntary PIC procedureisdesigned to:

« help participating countries learn more about the characteristics c
potentially hazardous chemicals that may be imported;

« initiate a decision-making process on the future import of these
chemicals; and

« facilitate the dissemination of these decisions to other countries.

Managed jointly by the FAO and UNEP, the PIC procedure is a
means for formally obtaining and disseminating the decisions of
importing countries on whether they wish to receive future shipment:
of such chemicals. The aim is to promote a shared responsibility
between exporting and importing countries in protecting human heal
and the environment from the harmful effects of certain hazardous
chemicals being traded internationally.

When the United Nations Conference on Environment and Devel
opment (UNCED) convened in Rio de Janeiro in June 1992, delegat
recognized that the use of chemicals is essential to meet social and
economic goals, while also acknowledging that a great deal remains
be done to ensure the sound management of chemicals. Chapter 19
Agenda 21, the programme of action adopted by UNCED, contains &
international strategy for action on chemical safety. Paragraph
19.38(b) calls on States to achieve, by the year 2000, the full particip
tion in and implementation of the PIC procedure, including possible
mandatory applications of the voluntary procedures contained in the
amended London Guidelines and the International Code of Conduct

In November 1994, the 107th meeting of the FAO Council agreed
that the FAO Secretariat should proceed with the preparation of a dr:
PIC Convention as part of the FAO/UNEP Programme on PIC, in
cooperation with other intergovernmental organizations (IGOs) and
non-governmental organizations (NGOSs). In May 1995, the 18th
session of the UNEP Governing Council adopted decision 18/12,

INTHISISSUE
A Brief History of thePIC Negotiations . ............... 1
Report of INC-4. . ... ... e 2
Organizational Matters. . ..., 2
Negotiation of the Draft Convention. . ............. 2
ClosingPlenary. . ........coiiiiin i, 9
A Brief AnalysSiSOf INC-4............... ... .ot 9
ThingstoLook For .............. .. oo, 10

Thisissueof the Earth Negotiations Bulletin© <enb@iisd.org> is written and edited by Stanley Burgiel <swb@igc.org>, Charlotte de Fontaubert <fontaubert@igc.org>,|Jona
Krueger <J.P.Krueger@I|se.ac.uk> and Daniela Pizzuto <dpizzuto@iisd.ca>. The Editor is Pamela Chasek, Ph.D. <pam@iidtedwgnagihy Editor is Langston Jamies
"Kimo" Goree VI <kimo@iisd.org>. The sustaining donors ofBlaletin are the Dutch Ministry for Development Cooperation, the Government of Canada (through CIDA) ar
the Government of the United States of America (through USAID). General supportBoilgta for 1997 is provided by Overseas Development Administration (ODA) of the

United Kingdom, the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Denmark, the Ministry of Environment of Sweden, the European Commissii), (D& Swiss Federal Office of th
Environment, the German Federal Ministry for the Environment, Nature Conservation and Nuclear Safety and the United NatipneebeRrogramme. Specific funding

coverage of this meeting was provided by the Food and Agriculture Organization. The authors can be contacted at theimaléeidnésses or at tel: +1-212-644-0204; fax:
+1-212-644-0206. 1ISD can be contacted at 161 Portage Avenue East, 6th Floor, Winnipeg, Manitoba R3B 0Y4, Canada; t&8+17Q04f&x: +1-204-958-7710. The

opinions expressed Earth NegotiationsBulletinare those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of 1ISD and other funders. ExcerptEdrdmiNégpti ations

Bulletin may be used in other non-commercial publications with appropriate citation. Electronic versiomub&threare sent to e-mail distribution lists (ASCIl and PDF fornjat)

and through thé&inkages WWW-server at <http://www.iisd.ca/linkages/>. The satellite image was taken on 1997/06/01 14:34:10 <P8>UTC from 100008 &
(46°14 N 6°04 E), Copyright © 1997 The Living Earth, Inc. <http://livingearth.com>. For further information on ways tcsappeEsspr contact thearth NegotiationsBulletin,

send e-mail to <enb@iisd.org>.




Monday, 27 October 1997

Vol. 15 No. 3 Page 2

which authorized the Executive Director to convene, together with the
FAO, anintergovernmental negotiating committee with amandate to
prepare an international legally binding instrument for the application
of the PIC procedure. A diplomatic conference for the purpose of
adopting and signing such an instrument was to be convened in 1997.

INC-1: Thefirst session of the INC (INC-1) was held from 11-15
March 1996 in Brussels. More than 194 delegates from 80 govern-
ments, the European Commission and a number of specialized agen-
cies, IGOs and NGOs participated. INC-1 agreed on the rules of
procedure, el ected bureau members and compl eted a preliminary
review of adraft outline for afutureinstrument. Delegates al so estab-
lished aworking group to clarify the groups of chemicalsto be
included under the instrument.

INC-2: Thesecond session of the INC (INC-2), whichwasheld
from 16-20 September 1996 in Nairobi, was attended by 220 del egates
from 86 governments. INC-2 produced a draft text of the Convention
and established a Technical Working Group and aLegal Drafting
Group. Delegates agreed that many facets of theinstrument required
further detailed consideration and noted the need for at | east one addi-
tional negotiating session beforethefinal session.

FAO COUNCIL: TheFAO Council, at its 111th meeting held in
October 1996, discussed the scope of the mandate for the PIC negotia-
tions. Some members expressed support for abroader framework
convention on the management of chemicals, while others suggested
that the relevant provisions of theinstrument beformulated in away
that could accommodate possible future devel opments. Some
preferred to limit the negotiationsto the PIC procedure and establish
separate negotiations on persistent organic pollutants (POPs). Lacking
consensus, the Council concluded that the present mandate of the INC
would continue, and noted that the 19th UNEP Governing Council
would consider theissueaswell.

UNEP GOVERNING COUNCIL : The19th session of the UNEP
Governing Council, heldin Nairobi from 27 January - 7 February
1997, adopted decision 19/13, concerning, inter alia, the international
instrument for the PIC procedure. The Council: confirmed the present
mandate of the INC; invited the INC to continueitswork, with anaim
to conclude negotiationsin 1997; recognized that additional elements
relating to the PIC procedure are under considerationinthe INC; and
requested the Executive Director to convene, in 1997, adiplomatic
conference for the purpose of adopting and signing an international
legally binding instrument.

INC-3: Thethird session of the INC (INC-3) was held from 26-30
May 1997 in Genevaand attended by over 300 del egatesfrom 102
countries. Delegates considered the revised text of draft articlesfor the
instrument, aswell as proposals from several delegations. The Tech-
nical Working Group and Legal Drafting Group met throughout the
week, asdid anumber of contact groups. Considerable debate centered
on the scope of the proposed Convention and many articlesremained
under discussion.

REPORT OF INC-4

Chair Maria Celinade Azevedo Rodrigues (Brazil) opened INC-4
on Monday, 20 October 1997, and introduced Howard Hjort, Deputy
Director-General of the FAO. Mr. Hjort outlined international efforts
tointensify food production, which may require the use of pesticides,
but noted that such production should be sustainable and not pose
unacceptablerisksto human health and the environment. He high-
lighted theimportance of the PIC procedurein thisregard, but
reminded del egates that the voluntary PI C procedure would need to be
combined with the legally binding procedure resulting from these
negotiations. He also added that extra budgetary resourceswould be
required if the FAO and UNEP were to assume administrative respon-
sibility for the Convention.

UNEP Executive Director Elizabeth Dowdeswell gave her opening
speech on Tuesday, 21 October. She said that this meeting had avital
mandate to adopt swiftly an international legally binding instrument.
She reminded del egates of the human dimensions of chemical use and
urged them to adopt the precautionary principle. She also recalled that
the PIC procedure, an enabling mechanism that balancesthe risks of
chemicalswith their benefits, was about sustainability. Finally, she
noted that these negotiations must be concluded to allow consideration
of other elements on the chemical s agenda such as persistent organic
pollutants.

ORGANIZATIONAL MATTERS

During the opening Plenary, the Chair reminded del egates that the
mandate of the Conference wasto be achieved "within avail able finan-
cial resources" and "by the end of 1997." She added that another INC
would be held at the beginning of 1998, and the Diplomatic Confer-
ence would be postponed until March 1998. It was agreed that dele-
gateswould continue to meet in a Technical Working Group, chaired
by Rainer Arndt (Germany), and aL egal Drafting Group, chaired by
Patrick Széll (UK). Work completed by these groups would also be
considered in Plenary.

Discussions were based on the revised text of the draft Articles,
which were contained in an annex to the report of INC-3 (UNEP/FAC
PIC/INC.3/2). Comments on the draft Articles were submitted by the
US (UNEP/FAO/PIC/INC.4/CRP.1), the Eastern European countries
(UNEP/FAO/PIC/INC.4/CRP.3) and the European Community
(UNEP/FAQ/PIC/INC.4/CRP.4). Delegates also had before them:

» anote by the Secretariat on interim and transitional arrangements
for the Convention (UNEP/FAO/PIC/INC.4/INF/1);

» anote on the activities of the World Health Organization (UNEP/
FAO/PIC/INC.4/INF/2); and

» anote on the activities of the Basel Convention on the Control of

Transboundary Hazardous Wastes and their Disposal (UNEP/

FAO/PIC/INC.4/INF/3).

The following officers continued to serve as Vice-Chairs at INC-4
Yuri Kundiev (Ukraine); Mohamed El Zarka (Egypt), returning after
an absence from INC-3; and William Murray (Canada). Wang Zhijia
(China) served as rapporteur.

NEGOTIATION OF THE DRAFT CONVENTION

Deliberations on the revised text of the draft Articles began on 20
October in the Technical Working Group, the Legal Drafting Group
and Plenary. The Technical Working Group frequently convened
informal contact groups to discuss difficult issues and report back wit
revised text for further consideration. Plenary was convened periodi-
cally throughout the week to consider the draft Articles emerging fror
both the Technical Working Group and the Legal Drafting Group. Du
to time constraints, not all Articles forwarded to this meeting from
INC-3 were considered.

ARTICLE 1 (Obijective): The revised text of Article 1, which was
not discussed at INC-4, states that the objective of this Convention is
promote shared responsibility and cooperative efforts among Parties
the international trade of certain hazardous chemicals in order to
protect the environment and human, animal and plant life and health
from potential harm. The Convention will also contribute to the envi-
ronmentally sound use of chemicals by promoting and facilitating
information exchange and by providing for national decision-making
processes on the future import of these chemicals and the dissemine
tion of these decisions to Parties. In the closing Plenary, the Chair of
the Technical Working Group noted that Article 1 would be returned t(
Plenary at the next session due to some unresolved political issues.

ARTICLE 2 (Definitions): On 22 October, the Technical Working
Group discussed definitions of chemicals, including those for banne
chemicals, severely restricted chemicals and hazardous pesticide



Vol. 15 No. 3 Page 3

Monday, 27 October 1997

formulations. The Chair explained that previous discussions had
expanded the definition of chemicalsto include those for consumer
use, in addition to pesticidal and industrial uses covered inthe London
Guidelines. JAPAN objected to the expansion of the scope beyond that
of the London Guidelines. The US, supported by CANADA,
COLOMBIA and AUSTRALIA, proposed inclusion of consumer use
within the category of industrial chemicals. NIGERIA and the EC
favored retention of a separate consumer use category, noting concern
over chemicalsin consumer productsin devel oping countries and the
imperative to protect consumers and workers. BRAZIL proposed
deleting all three.

On the definition of banned chemicalsin 2(b), debatefocused on
bracketed text including chemicals refused approval for first timeuse
and those voluntarily withdrawn from the market by industry.
CANADA suggested deleting the provision for refusal for first time
use, asit wasredundant. ARGENTINA, supported by the EC,
preferred inclusion of the clause, noting that such chemicals could be
traded internationally despite national provisionson first time use.
AUSTRALIA stated that refusal for first time use might not be afinal
regulatory action.

In defining severely restricted chemicalsin 2(c), JAPAN,
supported by the US, NEW ZEALAND, BOTSWANA, SOUTH
AFRICA and AUSTRALIA, noted difficultiesin assessing a"signifi-
cant reduction™ of risk obtained by regulatory action, and proposed its
deletion. The EC favored retaining the text, given the objective of the
voluntary system for reducing the number of applicationsfor regula-
tory action.

On Article 2(c) bis, hazardous pesticide formulations, the
GAMBIA, supported by COLOMBIA, proposed insertion of "acutely"
to be consistent with Article 7 (Acutely Hazardous Pesticide Formula-
tions). ARGENTINA, supported by COLOMBIA, proposed retaining
bracketed text referring to hazardous pesticide formulationslikely to
produce severe "environmental" effects, while deleting referenceto
"limited" exposure so asto allow for consideration of the long-term
chronic effects of such substances.

On 24 October, the Technical Working Group considered afurther
revision of Article2 (UNEP/FAO/PIC/INC.4/CRP.22). IRAN and
EGY PT supported theinclusion of consumer uses, whereas CANADA
preferred thistext to remain bracketed. Discussion on Article 2(c)
centered around theterm use[s]. CANADA, supported by
AUSTRALIA and the EC, wanted to retain arestricted definition of
useto allow for greater transparency and risk reduction. Inthefinal
Plenary, del egates noted that Article 2, asrevised by the Technical
Working Group, has been forwarded to the L egal Drafting Group.

ARTICLE 3 (Scope of the Convention): Article 3, detailing what
substances the Convention does and does not apply to, was not
discussed at INC-4. In the closing Plenary, the Chair of the Technical
Working Group noted that Article 3would bereturned to Plenary at the
next session due to some unresol ved political issues.

ARTICLE 4 (Genera Obligations): On 21 October, the Technical
Working Group considered Article 4, which dealswith the general
obligations of Parties. The US, supported by NEW ZEALAND,
moved to deletethe entirearticle asit duplicated other articles. The
EC, supported by CANADA, noted that it was important to retain Arti-
cles4(5), on avoiding unnecessary obstaclestointernational trade, and
4(6), allowing Partiesto take more stringent action than that called for
inthe Convention, and suggested that they could be moved to Articles
15 (Implementation of the Convention) and 16 (Technical Assistance).
MEXICO felt that all the paragraphs, with the exception of 4(6) should
beretained. MOROCCO and IRAN proposed that paragraphs 4(4),
requiring exporting Partiesto take legislative measuresto ensure use
of the PIC procedure, and 4(6) become a separate article, as both para-

graphsdeal with obligationsto protect the environment. The
GAMBIA, on behalf of the African Group, stated that they needed
moretimeto study Article 4.

Article4(5) outlinesthe obligationsin regard tointernational trade.
CANADA, supported by MEXICO, NEW ZEALAND, the
REPUBLIC OF KOREA and the EC, noted that this expressed a
general obligation relating to the scope of the Convention, whereas
Article 9(7) applied only to products on the importing country’s PIC
list. It was proposed that both provisions be retained. The US noted
that this Article was a paraphrase of WTO text and that the "savings
clause" in Article 1diswould be a more appropriate substitute. The
REPUBLIC OF KOREA, supported by NEW ZEALAND, remarked
that this text appears in the text of the Rio Declaration and should no
be altered.

On 22 October, the Technical Working Group discussed a revisec
draft of Article 4(5), which included language on avoiding unneces-
sary obstacles to international trade. The EC, supported by ETHI-
OPIA, expressed reservations regarding a proposed direct reference
measures in the Convention needing to be "in accordance with WTO
rules," and noted that this language was stronger than that found in't
UN Framework Convention on Climate Change. MOROCCO,
supported by ARGENTINA, further noted that such a reference coul
create problems with respect to dispute settlement under the propos
Convention. SYRIA questioned how non-WTO members would then
be treated in the legally binding procedure. MEXICO, supported by
NEW ZEALAND and CANADA, expressed support for the proposed
language noting that a clear reference is better than a partial referen
or a paraphrase.

Delegates in the closing Plenary noted that the Technical Workin
Group had forwarded this Article to Plenary for consideration at the
next nession.

ARTICLE 5 (Designated National Authorities): On 22 October,
delegates in Plenary considered text on Article 5, regarding designa:
tion of national contact points to administer the Convention's func-
tions. Discussion centered around bracketed text on whether there
should be one or more designated national authorities (DNAs). The
Chair explained that countries may have two or more individuals
working on the Convention and suggested, with the support of the U!
EC and UKRAINE, reference to "one or more" DNAs. The EC
expressed concern that the Article's title stressed "national” authori-
ties, thereby failing to account for regional economic integration orge
nizations party to the Convention, and suggested that this be clarifie
in Article 2 (Definitions).

ARTICLE 5his(Informing Parties of Regulatory Measures):
Article 5biswas deleted as the subject is covered in Article 6.

ARTICLE 6 (Banned or Severely Restricted Chemicals): Article 6
deals with the process of notification of a control action taken to ban
severely restrict a chemical. On 23 October, delegates in Plenary
considered a revised text of Article 6, as submitted by the Legal
Drafting Group (UNEP/FAQO/PIC/INC.4/CRP.11). Article 6(2)
proposes that the Secretariat verify the inclusion of the required infor
mation in any notification within six months of its receipt. The US
noted that no detailed time period had been included in the previous
draft. The Chair responded that the deadline of six months had been
submitted by the Secretariat itself.

Articles 6(4) and 6(5) detail the number of notifications required tc
trigger consideration of a chemical in the PIC procedure.
AUSTRALIA proposed that the Secretariat use the experience of no
fications in the voluntary procedure to suggest the number of notifica
tions to be required by the Convention. The RUSSIAN
FEDERATION, supported by the EC, objected to the inclusion of not



Monday, 27 October 1997

Vol. 15 No. 3 Page 4

ficationsfrom regional groupingsin the trigger mechanism as being
unhelpful. Inthefina Plenary, del egates noted the work of the Legal
Drafting Group on Article 6.

ARTICLE 7 (Acutely Hazardous Pesticide Formul ations): Article
7 provides aprocess for including hazardous pesticide formul ationsin
the PIC procedure and was considered by the Technical Working
Group on 20 October. CANADA stressed that the Article should
contain the same notification and information circulation procedures
asproposed in Article 6. This suggestion was supported by anumber
of other delegations, including COLOMBIA, the EC, MEXICO,
AUSTRALIA and INDIA.

Regarding thetitle of the draft Article, the GAMBIA noted that
while most African countriesinitially supported deletion of theterm
"acutely", it could beretained if clearly defined. JAMAICA supported
clarification of "acutely". EGY PT, supported by the EC, BRAZIL,
PANAMA, ARGENTINA, the REPUBLIC OF KOREA, INDO-
NESIA and IRAN, proposed deleting the term "acutely" while other
delegations, including COLOMBIA, the US, AUSTRALIA, INDIA
and CHINA, suggested that it be retained.

Article 7(1) dealswith Partiesthat experience problemswith a
hazardous pesticide formulation under conditions of useintheir terri-
tory. COLOMBIA, supported by MEXICO, AUSTRALIA, INDIA,
BRAZIL andthe US, proposed del eting the bracketed text regarding
assistance from relevant international organizations and NGOsfor
Parties proposing substances to beincluded in the PIC procedure.
ARGENTINA opposed thiswhile other delegations, including
PANAMA, INDONESIA and IRAN, suggested deleting only the
referenceto NGOs. The EC proposed use of amore general wording
including all relevant organi zations wishing to contributeto the
process; the USindicated support for thisapproach. AUSTRALIA
noted that this paragraph was designed to help developing countries
and that they should be mentioned explicitly.

On7(3), inclusion of hazardous pesticide formulationsin the PIC
procedure, AUSTRALIA asked how many proposalswould be neces-
sary to trigger inclusion.

On 21 October, the Technical Working Group returned to Article 7.
The EC suggested that one proposal would be sufficient to forward a
hazardous pesticide formulation to the subsidiary body of the COP for
consideration in the PIC procedure. The US responded that adecision
could not be made on theissue until the scope of "[acutely] hazardous
pesticide formulations' was clearly defined.

On 24 October, delegatesin Plenary considered draft text of Article
7, asrevised by the Legal Drafting Group (UNEP/FAO/PIC/INC.4/
CRP6/Rev.1). It was noted that thisarticlewould be carried forward to
the next session. On information and criteriafor inclusion of an
[acutely] hazardous pesticide formulation in the PIC procedure
(UNEP/FAO/PIC/INC.4/CRP6/Rev.1/Add.1), the US noted that the
article’'s scopewas still under consideration and there could still be
changes asto how the criteriawould be applied.

ARTICLE 8 (Decision Guidance Documents and Approval of
Chemicals): On 23 Octaober, delegatesin Plenary considered draft
Article 8, which concerns proceduresfor approving chemicasinthe
PIC procedure and the use of decision guidance documents (DGDS).
On Article 8(1), the US highlighted the great difference between the
proceduresin the subsidiary body and the COP. Supported by
SENEGAL, the US suggested that in the subsidiary body, Parties
should strive for consensus, but otherwise decide by athree-fourths
majority. JAMAICA, supported by MEXICO, agreed, but asked that
the views of the minority beincluded in the report to the COP.
UKRAINE, supported by NEW ZEALAND and JORDAN, opposed
the proposal, claiming that scientific evidence could not be decided by

avote. CANADA reiterated its demand for adoption by consensus.
ZIMBABWE remarked that thisissue should not be discussed now,
but left to the COP when it adoptsitsrules of procedure.

On Article 8(2), the debate was al so on the voting procedure for
inclusion of chemicals by the COP after receipt of the subsidiary
body’sreport. The EC asked that "'simultaneously" be substituted for
"consequently,” so that the DGD and theinclusion of the new chemical
could be adopted at the sametime. UKRAINE, along withthe US,
NEW ZEALAND, the GAMBIA, the EC, JORDAN and
AUSTRALIA, asked that adoption be by consensus. The USinsisted
that if theinclusion of new chemicalswas not carried out by
consensus, the new Annexeswould be subject to ratification by the
Parties.

ARTICLE 8bis(Chemicasinthe Voluntary Procedure): Article 8
bisoutlines the rel ationship between chemicalsand DGDsinthe
voluntary procedure and the Convention. On 24 October, the Plenary
considered revised text on thisarticle (UNEP/FAO/PIC/INC.4/
CRP.19), which includes bracketed text regarding the dates for which
chemicalsin the voluntary procedure will beincluded in the Conven-
tion. Two optionswere the date the Convention is opened for signature
or the date of itsentry into force. INDONESIA, SUDAN and the EC
expressed support for the date when the Convention is opened for
signature. The US, supported by COLOMBIA and NIGERIA,
suggested that the text remain bracketed because theissueisrelated to
the development of interim and transitional measures. The USfurther
suggested formation of atransitional subsidiary body to review
existing chemicalsinthevoluntary procedure and to formulate DGDs
for the binding agreement. For purposes of clarity, GERMANY,
supported by SWITZERLAND, proposed that the Secretariat develop
alist of chemicalsincluded in the voluntary procedure. The Chair
noted that such alist would be strictly for informational purposesand
would not beincluded inthelist of chemicalsincluded inthe PIC
procedure.

ARTICLE 8ter (Removal of Chemicalsfrom the PIC Procedure):
On 24 October, delegatesin Plenary considered draft text of Article 8
ter on the processfor removal of chemicals from the PIC procedure
(Annex ZZZ), asrevised by the Legal Drafting Group (UNEP/FAO/
PIC/INC.4/CRP18). The article suggeststhat Parties should strivefor
consensus on decisionsto remove achemical from the PIC procedure,
but failing that, a decision should betaken by either atwo-thirdsor a
three-fourths majority. CANADA noted that thistext was somewhat
different from the original draft and the Chair noted that there should
be some harmonization of proceduresfor including and removing
chemicalsfrom Annex ZZZ. Therevised draft was noted by the
Plenary.

ARTICLE 9 (Obligationsof Importing Parties): Thisarticle
includes, inter alia, draft obligationsthat requireimporting Partiesto
implement legislative and/or administrative measures, and to transmit
decisions on future implementation to the Secretariat. Dueto time
congtraints, Article 9 was not discussed at INC-4 and remains with
Plenary for further consideration.

ARTICLE 10 (Obligations of Exporting Parties): On 20 October,
the Technical Working Group discussed Article 10 regarding the
specific obligations of exporting Parties under the Convention. Debate
started with Article 10(b) on the deadline for an exporting Party to
abide by the terms of an importing Party’s response, as forwarded by
the Secretariat. The EC, supported by the US, recommended a 180-day
delay. JAMAICA and the GAMBI A stated that the delay should not
exceed 120 days, while COLOMBI A advocated a 90-day limit.
Regarding use of date of receipt or dispatch asthe starting point,
JAMAICA and the GAMBIA supported date of receipt, while



Vol. 15 No. 3 Page5

Monday, 27 October 1997

COLOMBIA and the US suggested date of dispatch. The Chair noted
that the date of dispatch by the Secretariat would be most consistent, as
thiswould bethe samefor all Parties.

On Article 10(c), requiring exportersto take measures to ensure
compliance with responses, the US, supported by CANADA, asked
that the obligations of the exporting Party belimited to the time period
mentioned in Article 10(b) and to the national territory of the
importing Party.

Debate on Article 10(d), regarding assistanceto DNAsin
importing countries, was protracted as IRAN and EGY PT requested
deletion of assistance"as appropriate” in the chapeau to ensure that
such assistance would be obligatory. CANADA, supported by the US,
JAPAN and JAMAICA, argued that assistance "as appropriate"
ensuresthat adevel oped importing country does not ask assistance of a
devel oping exporting country. EGY PT suggested that "upon request”
was sufficient in that regard.

BRAZIL, AUSTRALIA and JAPAN requested deletion of Article
10(d)(ii) on strengthening the capacity of DNAsinimporting coun-
tries. MOROCCO, supported by NIGER, KENYA, EGY PT,
BOTSWANA and BURKINA FASO, preferred retaining the para-
graph with areferenceto Article 16 on technical assistance. The Chair
reminded del egates that Article 16 dealswith technical assistance,
especially for devel oping countries and those with economiesin tran-
sition, whereas Article 10 deal s more with rel ations between importing
and exporting countries, regardless of their level of development.

NEW ZEALAND, supported by COLOMBIA and the US,
expressed concernwith Article 10(e), regarding failure of animporting
country to respond, asit could exonerate importing countriesfrom
their obligation to respond promptly. IRAN and JAMAICA, supported
by PANAMA and BRAZIL, stated that del etion of Article 10(e) would
create agrave health hazard, and that devel oping countries may not
have the technical capacity to respond promptly in thefirst place.
NEW ZEALAND, supported by JAPAN and the US, recognized the
risk highlighted by JAMAICA and suggested that the Secretariat
provide assistance to ensure the prompt response of importing Parties.

On 21 October, the Technical Working Group considered revised
text on Article 10(e), which specifies possible timelines for importing
country responses. AUSTRALIA asked the Secretariat to provide
information on the experience of the London Guidelinesregarding
non-responses by countries. The Secretariat reported that only afew
countries can respond within a 90-day period, and only afew more
within 120 days, as countries often have no legal basis at the national
level to makeadecision. NORWAY, SWITZERLAND, and the EC
expressed their general support for the proposed text. The US,
CANADA, AUSTRALIA, JAPAN, JAMAICA and othersfavored
inclusion of a"sunset clause" to clarify obligationsif no responseis
received. JAMAICA, supported by the GAMBIA, FIJI, the
REPUBLIC OF KOREA and MOROCCO, noted that a" sunset
clause" should account for differing capacities of countries, and that
developing countriesthat are unabl e to respond were the primary
target for the Convention’s provisions. JORDAN noted that a" sunset
clause" could provide exporterswith legal meansto export to countries
failing to respond, and supported mechanismsto build legal and tech-
nical capacity in such countries. JAPAN stated that importing coun-
tries could provide aminimal response, such as continuation of the
status quo, and that responding is an issue of responsibility, not tech-
nical capacity.

Revised text on Article 10(f) instructsthe Secretariat to transmit a
written request to an importing country failing to respond to the
exporting country’s DGD, and, in the event of no response, to assist the
importing country in responding. CANADA voiced concern that the
type and duration of Secretariat assistance was not specified. SYRIA,
supported by MOROCCO, proposed replacing text on Secretariat

assistance to importing countries "where appropriate” with "will doits
best" to ensure ahigh level of assistance. The Chair noted that "where
appropriate” reflected concerns over the Secretariat’s limited
resources.

On 22 October, the Technical Working Group considered revised
draft text submitted by a contact group on Articles 10(e) and 10(f).
JAMAICA noted agreement in the contact group on the obligation of
importing countriesto respond to natifications, given sufficient time
and assistance. Regarding the specific period of timefor the" sunset
clause" mentioned in Article 10(f), JAMAICA, supported by JAPAN,
NIGERIA, AUSTRALIA, MOROCCO and CANADA, suggested 180
days. The US, supported by the GAMBIA, favored one year, and
stressed the need to consider the time frame required by exporting
countriesto enact appropriate legislation. CANADA noted that market
opportunities might disappear after long periods of time. The options
of 180 days and oneyear were bracketed for future review. Article 10
remainsto be considered by Plenary.

ARTICLE 11 (Export Notification): On 20 October, the Technical
Working Group considered Article 11, requiring exporting Partiesto
notify the designated national authority of animporting country when
exporting adomestically banned or severely limited chemical.
AUSTRALIA noted they had questioned the costs and benefitsfor an
export notification system at INC-3, but added that it would now
consider inclusion of such asystem. In the discussion over whether
exporting countries'shall" or "should" provide export notification for
relevant chemicals, JAMAICA, supported by BRAZIL and GUINEA,
proposed retaining "shall" to reflect the binding nature of the Conven-
tion.

Regarding the frequency of notifications, the GAMBIA, on behal f
of the African Group, supported by IRAN, CUBA and ETHIOPIA,
proposed that notification be made on a shipment-by-shipment basis.
BRAZIL, supported by CUBA, ARGENTINA, URUGUAY and the
EC, suggested providing acomprehensive notification for the first
shipment and summary natifications for subsequent exports. The EC
stressed the need to balance theinformation needs of importing coun-
tries with the administrative burden on exporting countries.
JAMAICA, supported by NIGERIA, proposed notification on the first
two shipmentsannually. JAPAN and the REPUBLIC OF KOREA
indicated support for natification of thefirst shipment annually. The
REPUBLIC OF KOREA requested that annual notifications contain
information on the quantity of chemicals exported over time. NEW
ZEALAND and CHILE proposed annual reports covering all ship-
mentsfor theyear. The USand SWITZERLAND supported asingle
notification, but indicated they could accept reporting the first export
annually. The GAMBIA, IRAN, KENYA, the PHILIPPINES,
BURKINA FASO, NIGER, THAILAND, PARAGUAY and ARGEN-
TINA proposed that exporting countries be obliged to provide notifi-
cation of thefirst export. The EC, supported by the USand CANADA,
agreed, provided that the notification period was flexible. BURKINA
FASO, COLOMBIA and MOROCCO stressed that notification must
occur prior to export to allow for any necessary action by importers
and to prevent legal problems for those unableto control such goods
after import.

On Article 11(2), information required in the export notification,
the EC supported the devel opment of an annex for thisinformation.
CANADA said that there should be a clearer articulation of theinfor-
mation to be provided and suggested the use of safety data sheets.
CANADA, supported by EGY PT and INDONESIA, noted that the
reasons for the ban or severe restriction should also beincluded. The
EC stated that export notification as an exchange of information
among authoritiesisdifferent from the safety data sheets exchanged by
importers and exporters.



Monday, 27 October 1997

Vol. 15 No. 3 Page 6

Article 11(2)bis, transmission of information summarizing quanti-
ties of exported chemicals, was del eted.

On 11(3), supplementary export notifications, the GAMBIA, on
behalf of the African Group, said that the notification should be an
"updated" export notification rather than a" supplementary” one. The
US, supported by CANADA, said that if annual notificationswere
agreed upon, then updated export notificationswould not be necessary.
EGY PT aso observed that this paragraph could be deleted if a"ship-
ment-by-shipment" notification procedure was chosen.

The EC proposed deletion of 11(4)bis, export notification from a
State member of aregional economic integration organization party to
the Convention. The US noted that more specific information about
the source of anotification could be useful, and AUSTRALIA
opposed deletion of the paragraph. COLOMBIA, supported by
BRAZIL and CANADA, suggested that this paragraph could give
more information to importing countries.

On 22 October, the Technical Working Group considered revised
draft text on Article 11(1) that included bracketed language on the
number and frequency of required export notifications. The US said
that two export notifications annually for each chemical would be a
large administrative burden. Considerable debate also centered on the
question of whether or not such notification should be given before the
first export occurs. Some delegations, such asMOROCCO,
JAMAICA and the GAMBIA, strongly supported theideathat notifi-
cation should always be given before the first export occurs. Others,
including MEXICO and the EC, claimed that thiswould not dwaysbe
possible. MOROCCO noted that without mandatory notification, there
would be uncertainties about liability in the case of an accident.

On 23 October, the Technical Working Group again considered
Article 11(1). The AFRICAN GROUP disagreed with the proposal
that notification befor the first export on an annual basis and proposed
that it befor thefirst two exports. JAMAICA agreed with the African
position, stating that in devel oping countriesthefirst notification could
belost. The EC and the USrreiterated that for management reasons
they were not prepared to accept multiple annual export notifications
and wanted to see asingle notification on an annual basis.

In the closing Plenary, the Chair of the Technical Working Group
reported that Article 11 would be forwarded to the Legal Drafting
Group for consideration at the next session.

ARTICLE 12 (Classification, Packaging and Labelling): On 22
October, delegatesin Plenary considered Article 12(1), which states
that each Party exporting achemical subject to PIC shall ensurethat it
isclearly labelled as such. The US noted that most countries already
have extensive structures for dealing with customs codes and,
supported by CANADA, opposed the use of customs codes on labels.
The EC, supported by EGY PT, favored inclusion of customs codes.
CHINA noted that users of chemicals may not know what acustoms
code stands for and, therefore, it isnot useful on thelabel. JAMAICA,
supported by the UNITED ARAB EMIRATES and NIGERIA, said
that there are countries where customs do not play arolein chemical
imports, and therefore a customs code aloneis not always useful. The
CHEMICAL MANUFACTURERS ASSOCIATION suggested that
the customs code be placed on shipping documentsrather than the
product label.

Article 12(2) statesthat Parties shall ensure that chemicals
exported from their territories are subject to no less stringent require-
ments than comparabl e products destined for domestic use. SWIT-
ZERLAND suggested that reference could be made to existing
harmonized systemsfor classification, packaging and labelling. The
EC, supported by NORWAY, preferred the original language regarding
similar treatment for exports and domestic production. CANADA
noted potential for confusion if different abelling schemes are used.

On Article 12(3), use of safety data sheetsby exporters, ETHI-
OPIA, SYRIA and INDONESIA suggested that up-to-date safety data
sheets be mandatory for exporters.

JAPAN proposed deletion of Article 12(4) on using thelanguage of
theimporting country on the label and safety data sheets. The
GAMBIA, supported by BOTSWANA, proposed retaining the article,
because of its experiencein receiving shipments of chemicalslabelled
inlanguagesit could not understand. Del egates agreed to carry
forward this discussion to the next session.

ARTICLE 13 (Information Exchange): On 21 October, delegates
in Plenary considered draft Article 13, which outlines: types of infor-
mation to be exchanged; the need to take into account the protection of
proprietary rights; and information not to be regarded as confidential,
such asthe chemical identity of the substance, information necessary
for precautionary measures and the summary results of toxicological
and ecotoxicological tests.

On Article 13(1), types of information to be exchanged,
CANADA, supported by the US, suggested that thisarticletakeinto
account national legislation on information provision. ZIMBABWE,
supported by CHILE, MOROCCO and IRAN, said that the Conven-
tion should not be held hostage by concerns over nationa legislation.

Regarding Article 13(2), protection of proprietary rights,
AUSTRALIA, supported by CANADA and EGY PT, expressed
concern about the establishment of procedures for the protection of
proprietary rights, asit extends the scope of chemicals. The EC
preferredto retain thisarticle.

Article 13(3) listsinformation that isto be regarded as non-confi-
dentia. The US suggested that thisinformation should be providedin
accordance with national laws. ARGENTINA questioned why refer-
encesto national legislation should beincluded in an international
convention.

On Article 13(3)(b), names and percentages of substances of toxi-
cological and ecotoxicological significance, CANADA objectedto the
provision of information about percentages. UKRAINE, supported by
EGY PT and URUGUAY, noted that percentage content often deter-
minesthe danger level of a substance.

On Article 13(3)(d), name of the producer and exporter, the
GAMBIA, on behalf of the African Group, suggested that the address
of the producer and exporter a so be provided.

Regarding information contained in safety data sheetsin Article
13(3)(i), AUSTRALIA noted that safety data sheetsare aready public
information and, therefore, do not need to be listed here.

Article 13(3)(k) specifiesthe name and address of the importer.
JAPAN proposed deletion of thisinformation because importers may
changeto supplierswho do not have national legidation. ARGEN-
TINA and ETHIOPIA disagreed, stating that thisinformation was
important to help devel oping countries control illegal trafficin chem-
ical substances. The EC noted that thisinformation may beincludedin
Annex W on export notification. AUSTRALIA, supported by CHINA
and the US, noted that information disclosed among governmentsis
not the same asinformation made available for public disclosure.

On Article 13(3)(m), expiration dates of chemicals, EGY PT,
supported by NIGER and the UNITED ARAB EMIRATES, suggested
including dates of production of substances aswell astheir expiration
dates.

On 23 Octaber, delegatesin Plenary considered draft text of Article
13, asrevised by acontact group (UNEP/FAO/PIC/INC.4/CRP5/
Rev.1). Therevised text contains language on information not to be
considered confidential such as: information in proposed Annexes X
and Z; production and expiration dates of chemicals; and information
on precautions to be taken regarding the chemical .



Vol. 15No. 3 Page 7 @E‘V th Negotiations Bulletin Monday, 27 October 1997

Article 13(2) contai ns bracketed reference to the protection of ARTICLE 19 bis (Relationship with Other Agreements): Article
existing proprietary rights. The EC supported theinclusion of previous 19his, which is bracketed in its entirety, states that the provisions of
language regarding the need to “establish appropriate internal protkis Convention shall not affect the rights and obligations of any Part
dures” for the protection of such rights. PANAMA responded that swddriving from any [existing] international agreement, [except where
language went beyond the mandate of these negotiations. The  the exercise of those rights of performance of those obligations woul
amended text (UNEP/FAQ/PIC/INC.4/CRP.5/Rev.1) was noted in cause serious damage or threat to human health or the environment
final Plenary. This article was not discussed at this session and remains with the

ARTICLE 14 (Control of Trade with Non-Parties): On 24 Plenary for further consideration.

October, delegates in Plenary accepted a provisional proposal to delet®RTICL E 20 (Conference of the Parties): On 23 October, the
this article. ARGENTINA expressed a reservation regarding this  Plenary discussed Article 20, which establishes the COP and addres
proposal. issues involving: administration of meetings; voting; implementation

ARTICLE 15 (Implementation of the Convention): Article 15  of the Convention; and admission/participation of observers.
contains draft obligations regarding strengthening of national infra-  On Article 20(2), the timing of the first COP, AUSTRALIA
structures, adoption of national legislation, establishment of nationptoposed that it be held no later than one year after entry into force o
registers and databases, voluntary agreements and initiatives by the Convention, as this would correspond to other environmental
industry, access to information, good management of pesticides arafjreements. The Plenary approved this proposal.
chemicals, cooperation with other international organizations and On Article 20(3), extraordinary meetings of the COP,
additional requirements. On 22 October, delegates in Plenary ~ AUSTRALIA proposed that the paragraph be bracketed until voting
discussed Article 15. CANADA suggested maintaining a referencedgteria for regional economic integration organizations are estab-
national legislation or administrative actions. ZIMBABWE added thighed. The Plenary approved this proposal.
the paragraph should take into account situations where there are no article 20(4) notes that the COP shall by consensus agree upon a
existing infrastructures or institutions by deleting "existing" before aqopt rules of procedure and financial rules. ZIMBABWE stated that
national legislation. The GAMBIA suggested that the whole of Articjge COP should address or approve the rules of procedure at its first
15 should be brought under Article 4, but the Chair indicated that meeting and, supported by SENEGAL, also stated that a majority vor
Article 4 was still under consideration in the Technical Working GroyRyyd be preferable to a vote by consensus, should consensus not b
and that some provisions of Article 4 could actually be included in reached. MEXICO disagreed with this proposal, stating that matters
Article 15. rocedure were far too important to be subjected to a majority vote.

Article 15(3) gave rise to longer debate on whether Parties wouiOLOMBIA also added that the rules of procedure should only be
"agree" to promote good management practices or "should" promagecided by the COP.

good management practices for chemicals. INDONESIA, On Article 20(6), representation and participation of observers,
ZIMBABWE, MOROCCO, BENIN and the PHILIPPINES strongly syRIA, supported by CHINA and INDONESIA, supported bracketed
supported the use of "agree,” while the US, CANADA and text that non-Parties be granted observer status at the COPs only if r

AUSTRALIA suggested this was not necessary. PARAGUAY Party objects. MEXICO, supported by AUSTRALIA, the GAMBIA,
suggested that "agree" be retained but that "under the terms of thesoTH AFRICA, the US, CANADA and the EC, expressed concern
present Convention” be added. N _ about this proposal and the bracketed text was deleted. SYRIA, IND
Article 15(5), allowing the imposition of additional requirementsNESIA and CHINA expressed reservations about this deletion.
consistent with this Convention and international law, was completely ART|CLE 20 bis (Secretariat): Article 2Bis, outlining the func-
bracketed and the US supported an amendment introduced by thedgfgs of the Secretariat, was discussed by delegates in Plenary on 2
reproducing an identical provision from the Basel Convention. qctober. On Article 26i(2)(b), assistance to the Parties, SENEGAL,
MOROCCO suggested that a reference to "principles of internationg|pported by the GAMBIA and CHAD, suggested that reference
law" should be replaced with "rules of international law," and this  should also be made to technical assistance.
pfoposa.' was accep_ted. These comments W'I.l be reflected in a rewsedOn Article 20bis(4), entrusting the functions of the Secretariat to
draft article for consideration at the next session. other competent international organizations should UNEP and/or FA:
ARTICLE 16 (Technical Assistance): On 22 October, the Plenagécome unable to perform these functions satisfactorily, SENEGAL,
considered Article 16 which notéster alia, that Parties shall coop- supported by CHAD, GUINEA, PANAMA, PARAGUAY and
erate in promoting technical assistance to develop capacity to impleH|LE, stated that there should not be any language in the Conventi
ment the Convention, and that Parties with more advanced_ chemic@lat cast doubt on UNEP's or the FAO's ability to complete their func
management programmes, whether developed or developing coufins. MEXICO, supported by MOROCCO, SYRIA, the US and
tries, should provide such technical assistance. CHINA noted that |RaN, preferred to keep this language. The US then proposed to
"Parties with more advanced chemical management programmes”{}agnd the bracketed text so that reference is made to the ability to
not been explicitly defined. EGYPT proposed that assistance be perform functions "as intended" rather than "satisfactorily".
provided to manage chemicals "throughout their lifecycle.” Delegates p pr|c| g 21 (Settlement of Disputes): Article 21, not discussed

provisonally endorsed this article in closing Plenary. _ at INC-4, contains two proposals regarding dispute settlement: one
ARTICLE 17 (Compliance): On 24 October, delegates in Plenapyntaining an option what wouldhter alia, allow Parties to decide

notecj that FhIS article, not discussed at INC-4, would require furthe(ynether they recognize, as a means of dispute settlement, the Interr

consideration. tional Court of Justice or arbitration procedures that will be develope
ARTICLE 18 (Liability and Compensation): This article was notunder the Convention; and a second proposal, made by CANADA at

discussed in Rome. Delegates in Plenary noted on 24 October thattiisast session, would oblige each Party to consent to binding arbitr

article, requiring further work, would be considered at the next sessign.when requested to do so by a claimant Party. This article remain
ARTICLE 19 (Financial Resources and Mechanisms): While natith Plenary for further discussion.

discussed at INC-4, delegates in the closing Plenary noted that issues

regarding financial resources were complex and would require serious

consideration at the next session.



Monday, 27 October 1997

Vol. 15 No. 3 Page 8

ARTICLE 21 bis(Amendmentsto the Convention): Article 21 bis
states, inter alia, that Parties shall make every effort to reach agree-
ment on any proposed amendment to the Convention by consensus. If
all efforts at consensus have been exhausted and no agreement is
reached, the amendment shall be adopted by a[two-thirds] or [three-
fourths] majority. On 24 October, the Chair proposed to Plenary that a
three-fourths majority be required; thiswas accepted.

ARTICLE 22 (Adoption and Amendment of Annexes): Article
22, not discussed at INC-4, will require further discussion by Plenary.

ARTICLE 23 (Protocols): Thisarticlewasnot discussed at INC-4,
but will be considered in Plenary at INC-5.

ARTICLE 24 (Right to Vote): Article 24 was not discussed at this
session and will be considered by the Plenary at INC-5.

ARTICLE 25 (Signature): Article 25 leavesfinal dateson opening
for signature without specified dates, and will betaken up by the
Plenary at the next session.

ARTICLE 26 (Ratification, Acceptance, Approval or Accession):
On 24 October, Plenary considered Article 26. The US noted the need
toclarify the "competence" of regional economic integration organiza-
tionswith respect to the Convention. Delegates noted this and agreed
to carry forward discussionsto INC-5.

ARTICLE 27 (Entry into Force): The Plenary discussed the
number of instruments of ratification, acceptance, approval, or acces-
sion necessary for the Convention to enter into force. SYRIA,
supported by CHINA, SWITZERLAND and INDONESIA, suggested
50 instruments to correspond to the Convention to Combat Desertifi-
cation. INDIA, supported by NIGERIA and EGY PT, suggested that
the number of instruments should be 50 percent of the number of
signatories. MOROCCO, supported by the GAMBIA, suggested 75
instruments, reflecting roughly 50 percent of the countries partici-
pating in the voluntary PIC procedure. The Chair noted that other
major environmental agreements use specific figures, and that percent-
ages are unprecedented in international fora. SWITZERLAND noted
that the number of necessary instruments would influence the amount
of time necessary for the Convention to enter into force, which would
affect interim arrangements between the voluntary and legally binding
processes. Delegates agreed to bracket "50" instruments and retain a
footnote on factorsfor future consideration of thisfigure.

ARTICLE 28 (Reservations): Article 28 states that no reserva-
tions shall be made to the Convention. The USreserved its position on
thisissue and proposed alternative wording that "no reservations may
be madeto Articles 2, 3,4, 5,6, 7, 8,9, 10, 15and 16."

ARTICLE 29 (Withdrawal): Thisarticlewas noted by the Plenary,
but was not discussed.

ARTICLE 30 (Interim Arrangements): On October 24, delegates
in Plenary considered anote by the Chair on interim and provisional
arrangements (UNEP/FAO/PI C/INC.4/CRP.24) that requests consid-
eration from UNEP and the FAO regarding their involvementinan
Interim Secretariat. Thistext was noted infinal Plenary.

ARTICLE 31 (Depositary): Article 31 was not discussed at this
session and will be considered at INC-5.

ARTICLE 32 (Authentic Texts): Article 32 was not discussed at
thissession and will be considered at INC-5.

ANNEX W (Informationto beincluded in an Export Notification):
The Technical Working Group discussed draft Annex W, information
to beincluded in an export naotification, on 21 October. CANADA
explained that the contact group had reviewed and modified the
Annex, as contained in the EC paper on export notification. INDO-
NESIA expressed some concern over the confidential businessinfor-
mation reservationsin paragraphs 3, 5and 9. The US explained that
thisnotionisdifficult to define on acategorical basis and that only
information of aproprietary and commercial natureis afforded confi-

dential treatment, not information related to health and safety. ETHI-
OPIA remarked that importing countries already requirethis
information for non-PIC chemicals. JAMAICA highlighted that para-
graph 5would only apply to inert substances, whereas hazardous
chemicalsarelikely to be active.

CANADA explained that thereference to saf ety data sheetsinitem
8 remains bracketed because the negotiators were not sure that this
would bethe only instrument of notification. NIGERIA remarked that
safety data sheets were supposed to accompany exports anyway, but
CANADA responded that thiswas acompletely new ideathat still
required consideration.

Onitem 9, the Chair, supported by the EC, suggested that the name
and address of theimporter should beincluded, asprovidedin Article
13, so that the exporting country can approach theimporter. EGY PT,
supported by NIGERIA said that information should also beincluded
on the date of production/expiry and the expected date of the chem-
ical’sarrival. JAPAN remarked that reference to the name and address
of theimporter in Article 13(k) should be deleted, and the Chair agreed
that thisinformation should be made available between DNAsand not
necessarily to the public. The USreiterated that this could pose prob-
lemswith confidentiality. Delegatesin final Plenary noted that Annex
W would now be forwarded to the Legal Drafting Group.

ANNEX X (Information Requirementsfor Notifications Made
Pursuant to Article 6): On 22 October, the Plenary discussed draft text
on Annex X oninformation requirementsfor notificationsregarding
banned or severely restricted chemicals (UNEP/FAO/PIC/INC.4/
CRP38). Thedraft notestwo categories of information under Section |
for inclusion in notifications: identification and uses; and final regula-
tory action. MEXICO and RUSSIA noted alack of clarity inthetype
of classification that could encompass national, UN and other interna-
tional classification schemes. Some del egations wanted to avoid
overly prescriptive language, whereas others wanted more specificity
regarding the types of classification schemesto be used. Regarding the
use of chemical nomenclatures, CANADA expressed concern over
wording including Chemicals Abstract Service (CAS) numbersand
International Union of Pureand Applied Chemistry (IUPAC) label-
ling, asall chemicalsare not classified in the latter nomenclature. The
Plenary provisionally approved amodification to list chemicalsin an
"internationally recognized nomenclature.”

Regarding provision of information on final regulatory action,
MEXICO, supported by EGY PT and JAMAICA, proposed moving
bracketed text on " physico-chemical, toxicological, and ecotoxicol og-
ical properties” into Section | on"Identification and Uses," given their
importance and more descriptive nature.

Text on1(2)(a)(iv), regarding final regulatory action based on risk/
hazard eval uations, remained bracketed, awaiting further discussion of
proposed text by the US and the EC.

ANNEX'Y (Criteriafor the Inclusion of Banned or Severely
Restricted Chemicalsinthe Prior Informed Consent Procedure): On 23
October, the Plenary beganitsreview of Annex Y, which dealswith
criteriafor theinclusion of chemicalsinthe PIC procedure, asrevised
by the Legal Drafting Group. On paragraph (b), the US remarked that
the remaining brackets over evaluation of risks/hazard weretied to the
finalization of item 2(iv) in Annex X, and the issue was not resol ved.
NIGERIA remarked that the expertise called for in (b) might not be
availableto devel oping countries. The GAMBIA added that reference
should be made to "shared but differentiated responsibility of devel-
oping and developed countries."

PESTICIDES TRUST asked that another annex be added that
would refer to pesticides not yet subject to international trade but
might bein thefuture. The Chair remarked that thisrequest would be
examined, but that the NGO had failed to gather support among the
national delegations and doubted whether this could be addressed now.



Vol. 15 No. 3 Page 9

Monday, 27 October 1997

ANNEX Z: On 21 October, the Technical Working Group began
itsreview of Annex Z, which dealswith theinclusion of hazardous
pesticide formulationsin the PIC procedure. The Annex isdivided
into three parts: required documentation to include[acutely] hazardous
pesticidesin the PIC procedure; information to be gathered by the
Secretariat; and criteriafor use by the subsidiary body in making a
recommendation to the COP on whether an [acutely] hazardous pesti-
cideformulation should be included in the PIC procedure.

JAMAICA indicated that the reference to asingleincident of pesti-
cide usewas not clear enough, and suggested that the text refer to
"eachincident."” SWEDEN asked that the referenceto the" credibility"
of theinformation be deleted, and IRAN indicated that the definition
of "evidence" was not clear enough. JAMAICA then asked that a
further reference to usesthat are" common practice in the country of
origin" beincluded in order to avoid misinterpretation. BARBADOS
also highlighted the problems sometropical countrieshaveinthe
application of label instructions, which should not be construed as
misuse. The Chair remarked that the proposal by JAMAICA would
address this problem.

ANNEX ZZZ: On 24 October, delegatesin Plenary were also
presented with adraft outline of Annex ZZZ (Chemicals Subject to the
Prior Informed Consent Procedure) submitted by the Legal Drafting
Group (UNEP/FAO/PIC/INC.4/CRP.10). Thiswas noted in closing
Plenary and will be forwarded to INC-5 for further consideration.

CLOSING PLENARY

On the afternoon of 24 Octaber, the Chair convened the final
Plenary of INC-4 and invited comments on the draft final report, as
contained in documents UNEP/FAO/PIC/INC.4/L.1, Add.1 and
Add.2.

CANADA, supported by the GAMBIA, asked if the Secretariat
could post the new version of the negotiating text on the Internet
within two weeks. He al so suggested that the Chair, the Secretariat and
the Chairs of the working groups, reorganizethe text and draft a

Group, took the floor to thank the organizers, sponsors and host
country, and remarked that the vulnerability of African countries
should not be taken advantage of, but rather that those with the tech
nology and the know-how should “spread the Gospel.”

The US said that the final agreement would need to reflect the po
tion of all delegations and that there are no differences between
importers and exporters, as all States are both.

The Chair thanked all those who had been involved in the proces:
and remarked that UN negotiations had a tradition of finishing their
work in five INCs, and she asked the delegates not to break precede

Delegates then adopted the Draft Report of INC-4. The revised
draft articles, as amended at this meeting, will be consolidated into a
draft text and annexed to the Report for consideration at INC-5. The
meeting was adjourned at 6:00 pm on Friday, 24 October 1997.

A BRIEF ANALYSISOF INC-4

As was perhaps to be expected, delegates at INC-4 encountered
problems similar to those encountered at previous negotiating
sessions. According to at least one participant, despite useful contac
during the intersessional period between some of the major players,
there had not been much change in the positions of the main protagc
nists since INC-3 last May. This means that the mandate of the UNEI
Governing Council to conclude negotiations by the end of 1997 will
not be met. With the addition of a negotiating session in early 1998 ai
the diplomatic conference now scheduled for March or April, negotia
tors appear to have adopted a two-track approach: attempting to
remove brackets from the least contentious provisions, while reservir
their final positions on the most difficult issues. The result of this dual
approach is that the degree of progress remains unclear. However,
without agreement on fundamental issues, such as the requirements
export notification, financial resources and mechanisms, and the def
nition of “acutely hazardous pesticide formulations,” achievement of
balanced, implementable and effective Convention is not yet assure:

Chair’s paper, to be distributed in the intersessional period. RUSSIAs one observer noted, leaving so many substantial issues until the
highlighted the need to harmonize language in the different transla*endgame" runs the risk that the clock will run out before final agree-
tions, particularly through the use of the available glossaries. ment is reached.

The Chair responded that she would reorganize the text, review th&OUND AND ROUND: With time constraints and the slow pace
French and Spanish translations and attempt to remove some of thef negotiations looming ever larger in the efforts to produce a Convel
minor non-controversial brackets to allow the negotiators to concetion early next year, several disagreements from previous sessions
trate on the most relevant issues. resurfaced in Rome. Most prominent was the question of the scope ¢

The Chair of the Technical Working Group reported that the Graigg Convention and the debate on whether the new PIC procedure
had finished its work on Articles 4, 7 with Annex, 10, 11, Annex W should apply only to “acutely” hazardous chemicals and pesticides. |
and part of Article 2. These articles have been forwarded to the Ledfa@t regard, the debate appeared at times to pitch the interests of the
Drafting Group. Articles 1 and 3 are being sent back to the Plenarydeveloped countries against those of the developing States, more sc
with no new brackets because the issues that need to be resolved Hran in earlier meetings, thereby running the risk of becoming even
political ones. He noted that the delegates almost reached a compfgore divisive. At least one delegate suggested that the entire purpos
mise on Article 11 and asked them to reconsider their positions. Heof the negotiations -- to make the notification and information require
then announced that the Technical Working Group had completed ments of the PIC procedure legally binding at the international level -
work for the INC and would not be reconvening. was often lost in debates over the concerns of exporting countries to

On behalf of the Chair of the Legal Drafting Group, Liesbeth Lijivoid administrative obligations. The proposed rules of procedure
zaad (Netherlands) reported that the Group was able to present Artj¢fe§ also problematic as some States do not want to be bound by ar
6, 7, 8, ®is, %ter and Annexes W, X, Z and ZZZ to Plenary. Italso  Instrument where new chemicals may be added to the PIC procedur
concluded its work on Articles 10 and 11 and tried to ensure that th@ithout their consent. This is in part an issue of national sovereignty,
obligations of both importing and exporting countries would be ~ Which some countries seem reluctant to relinquish.
coherent. The Group revised the text for Article 2B{d)as contained ~ Second, the “inexperience effect” also slowed progress once aga
in document UNEP/FAO/PIC/INC.4/CRP.25, and reviewed Article In an attempt to overcome the problem of delegates new to the PIC
8.3ter for imperfections in the listing system in Annex ZZZ. The Leg#akgotiations, the Secretariat held a briefing session where they
Drafting Group tried to ensure that wording in the final Convention presented a flow-chart outlining all the obligations and procedures of
will be consistent, understandable and non-ambiguous. the proposed Convention. While clearly a helpful exercise, it perhap:s

The EC announced that no date had been set for the convening8#!d have been carried out earlier, as some of the delegates were n
INC-5 in Brussels, but that 12-16 January 1998 and 16-20 Februarjecessarily well-versed in all the subtleties of hazardous chemical
1998 were being considered. The GAMBIA, on behalf of the African



Monday, 27 October 1997 @Eaﬂh.N.egoﬂqtz.oﬂs__l?uﬂ_e_ﬂn Vol. 15 No. 3 Page 10

transport and management and did not always understand all thetech-  UNEP. Such expertise on the part of the FAO has proved to be invalt
nicalitiesthat can constrain otherwise well-intentioned political under- able in international fisheries negotiations and may well be crucial to
takings. the successful completion of these negotiations.

Third, the question of the relationship between WTO obligations Despite remaining problems, delegates at the end of this session
and the Convention became even more complicated at thissession. In could perhaps see the proverbial light at the end of the tunnel. What
additionto Article 19bis, the “GATT-saving clause,” additional refer- clearer now are the small number of difficult issues on which a lot of
ences were made to placing similar conditions on imported and donvesk is still needed. Delegates can return to their capitals and make
tically produced chemicals (Article 9(7)) and proposed wording to case to their respective governments for flexibility and the need to gi\
ensure that the Convention's provisions are in “accordance with Wii@n some issues in order to gain overall through the adoption of a
obligations” (Article 4(5)). Many delegates expressed surprise andstrong, legally binding instrument. Such a precedent would bode wel
concern that the wording could allow international trade rules to ovéar negotiations on other chemical-related issues, particularly those
ride the provisions of the Convention, while others simply suggestedgarding persistent organic pollutants, which will likely provoke
that some delegations had not been properly briefed on the trade im@ater interest on the part of NGOs and governments alike.
cations of a legally binding PIC procedure. Either way, and with a
certain confusion on the relationship between the proposed Conven- THINGSTO LOOK FOR

tion and other international legal obligations, such an important matter _ , ,
deserves serious consideration during the intersessional period. PRIORINFORMED CONSENT: The fifth session of the INC

NEW AND ADDITIONAL: In addition to these continuing chal-{ﬁr the preparatian ofan '.”;ema“é)”a' 'egat"y b'”dc;”g nstrument for
lenges, several other difficult issues were prominent at INC-4. For € application of a prior Informed consent procedure for certain

- : zardous chemicals in international trade (INC-5) is tentatively
example, some participants appeared less than sympathetic to thog ; . X .
delegations that anticipated difficulties with amending national legig> ?grlélr?gefor. tlhzrgtls(sh‘c])?tnur?aryalrggosr 'r},\?cr:ugzgféﬁ.eslgél;m's: cggl]%rpatn
lation to accommodate the requirements of the Convention. Symp Wi prep y lon IS envisag

: : : ; ' : : : March or April 1998 in Rotterdam, the Netherlands. For more infor-
atic of this debate is the question of confidential business informati re 3 S e ]
(CBI). Some delegations argued that, due to their national laws, th tion contact: UNEP Chemicals (IRPTC); tel: +41 (22) 979-9111;

cannot reveal information to importers that would be considered pr : +41(22) 797-3460; e-mail:IRPTC@unep.ch. Also try http://
w.unep.ch/chemicals.

leged commercial information. While this may be construed as a vali
point, importers also point out that if some chemicals are classified as INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE ON PESTICIDE USE

hazardous in the country of origin, it is the exporter's duty to providQF DEVEL OPING COUNTRIES--IMPACT ONHEALTH AND

the importer with as much information as may be necessary to avofgNV|RONMENT: This meeting, scheduled from 23 February - 1
health and environmental hazards. Moreover, it was noted that theMarch 1998 in San José, Costa Rica, will discuss and exchange kno
meeting's purpose was to achieve an internationally agreed instrunfSigi€ @bout pesticides, their impact on the environment and health,
not one subject to exemptions by individual countries. A failure in tR€ONOMIc issues, regulations, policies and clean technology in deve
next, and final, stage of these negotiations would be a clear indicatffing countries. For information contact Yamileth Astorga, PPUNA,
that despite pressure from consumers, importing developing countfg/ersidad Nacional, Apdo. 86-3000 Heredia, Costa Rica; tel: +506

and growing environmental threats, some delegations might still be? / /-3584; fax: +506-277-3583; email: ppuna@irazu.una.ac.cr.
content with practices that ultimately remain within the realm of INTERGOVERNMENTAL FORUM ON CHEMICAL

national sovereignty. SAFETY: Japan offered to host ISG-3 in Tokyo in late 1998. Brazil

Discussions in Rome were also marked by a clear sense of cauffhforward its decision to host FORUM lll, scheduled for late 2000,
One delegate noted that “nobody wants to give away the store.” ofio the IFCS'as soon as possu_)Ie. The Plena}ry also agreed.ten.tatlvely
course, such caution runs the risk of crashing headlong into the tinf#?!d 1SG-4 in 2002. Mexico will host a working group meeting in early
constraint of one remaining negotiating session. Often such reticerl®8 for developing countries to discuss the sound management of
is moved forward by the presence of vocal environmental NGOs € t_am|cals. For mformatlon_ on.these meetings, contact the IFCS Sec
(ENGOs). However, such presence is minimal at the PIC negotiatig@éat, World Health Organization, CH-1211 Geneva 27, Switzerland;
and, as admitted by one ENGO observer, is actually decreasing. Inf€l: +41 (22) 791-3588; fax: +41 (22) 791-4848; e-mail: ifcs@who.ch
addition, the issue of financial resources and mechanisms, only intro- BASEL CONVENTION ON THE TRANSBOUNDARY
duced at INC-3, was not formally discussed at this meeting. Likewi8OVEMENT OF HAZARDOUSWASTESAND THEIR
a growing number of representatives have voiced their concerns offiPOSAL : The fourth Conference of the Parties (COP-4) of the
lack of sufficient mechanisms to assist developing countriesin ~ Basel Convention has been rescheduled for 23-27 February 1998 in
meeting their obligations under the new Convention. These concetfidching, Malaysia. For more information, contact the Secretariat of
may not have been adequately addressed and could well resurfacéhe Basel Convention, Geneva Executive Center, 15 Chemin des
shortly. Failure to address such traditionally contentious topics will Anémones, CH-1219 Geneva, Switzerland; tel: +41 (22) 979-9218;
undoubtedly place further strain on the already crowded agenda fofex: +41 (22) 797-3454; email: sbc@unep.ch. Also try http://

INC-5. www.unep.ch/basel.

TO BRUSSEL S...AND BEYOND: The present difficulties faced  WTO COMMITTEE ON TRADE AND ENVIRONMENT:
by the negotiators are, of course, common in international environ-The CTE will meet from 24-26 November 1997 in Geneva. For infor-
mental negotiations: Parties may face a common threat, but conceE}gion. contact the CTE, Centre William Rappard, 154, rue de
of responsibility and equity remain fuzzy. In this case, as in others, ki@isanne, CH-1211 Geneva, Switzerland; tel: +41 (22) 739-5111; fa
new obligations imposed on both importers and exporters will reprg-41 (22) 739-5458; e-mail: webmaster@wto.org. Also try http:/
sent gains for one set of Parties at the expense of the other. ThereiWyi&gwto.org.
the difficulty of codifying accepted, but not legally binding, practices.
One should not forget, however, that the negotiators are able to draw
from two very solid texts -- the FAO Code of Conduct and the London
Guidelines -- and benefit from the technical expertise of the FAO and



